FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
7/11/2019 3:28 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/12/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK 97421-7

No. 77538-3-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GEORGE E. ENGSTROM and JOHN E. STOCKWELL,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

v.

MICROSOFT CORPORATION,

Defendant/Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

THE SHERIDAN LAW FIRM, P.S.

John P. Sheridan, WSBA #21473 Mark W. Rose, WSBA #41916 Hoge Building, Suite 1200 705 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 381-5949

Attorneys for Petitioners

A. Introduction and Identity of Petitioners

Petitioners George ("Eric") Engstrom and John ("Ted") Stockwell seek discretionary review by the Washington Supreme Court of the decision of the Court of Appeals terminating review designated in Part B of this petition. They allege wrongful discharge in violation of public policy against Microsoft, a publicly-traded company, claiming they were terminated for having reported "expensing [of] illegal prostitution masked as benign meal charges."

B. Court of Appeals Decision

On May 6, 2019, the Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal of Engstrom and Stockwell's claims, ruling they "failed to meet their burden to plead and prove that a stated public policy... may have been contravened." Engstrom v. Microsoft Corp., No. 77538-3-I (Wash. Ct. App. May 6, 2019) ("Slip Opinion") at 1. The Slip Opinion is attached at Appendix 1.

The Court rejected Petitioners' reliance on the potent and broad-ranging "books and records" provision of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 ("FCPA"), 15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A), which was pleaded to demonstrate "there is a clearly established public policy against falsifying corporate records or books." See id., at 8-9. The Court of Appeals erred in relegating the reach and scope of the FCPA to "the bribery of foreign

¹ Slip Opinion, at 2.

officials[.]" <u>Id.</u> The reach and scope of the FCPA is much broader and supports the public policy articulated by Petitioners.

The Court likewise rejected Petitioners' reliance on "public policy under the whistleblower protection provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act" (SOX), 18 U.S.C. § 1514A, et seq. See Slip Opinion, at 9-11. The Court ruled that "the policies behind the whistleblower protections of [SOX] do not apply here," reasoning that SOX was intended to only address "securities fraud." Id. Again, the reach and scope of SOX is much broader and supports the public policy articulated by the petitioners. The Court also ruled that Petitioners unduly delayed moving to amend their complaint to assert SOX's whistleblower provisions as a source of public policy and held, without evidence, that Microsoft would be prejudiced if the alternative source of public policy was pleaded. Id., at 12.

Engstrom and Stockwell filed a timely Motion for Reconsideration, which was denied on June 11, 2019.²

C. Issues Presented for Review

Issue No. 1 Does the decision of the Court of Appeals, which held that the claim Petitioners were fired for reporting a violation of 15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A) does not "demonstrate that their discharge may have been motivated by actions that contravene a clear expression of public policy," conflict with this Court's decisions, which state that "[t]he question of

² The Order Denying Reconsideration is attached at Appendix 2.

what constitutes a clear mandate of public policy ... can be established by ... statutory, or regulatory provisions," Martin v. Gonzaga Univ., 191 Wn.2d 712, 725, 425 P.3d 837 (2018), and "whether the employer's conduct contravenes the letter ... of a ... statutory, or regulatory provision." Thompson v. St. Regis Paper Co., 102 Wn.2d 219, 232, 685 P.2d 1081 (1984)?

Issue No. 2 Whether the decision of the Court of Appeals affirming the trial court's denial of leave to amend the complaint to assert an additional source of public policy conflicts with this Court's decision in Ellis v. City of Seattle, 142 Wn.2d 450, 459 n.3, 13 P.3d 1065 (2000), which allowed new sources of public policy to be raised for the first time on appeal?

Issue No. 3 Whether an issue of substantial public interest is involved when the law fails to disincentivize retaliation against whistleblowers who report illegal spending by a publicly-traded company covered up in

D. Statement of the Case

falsified financial records?

Petitioners Engstrom and Stockwell were high-level managers at Microsoft. Slip Opinion, at 2. They "became concerned over [Brandon] Yoon's expense reports[,] ... believ[ing] that Yoon may have been taking Microsoft clients to ... establishments [in Korea] that ... provide illegal prostitution services—and expensing illegal prostitution masked as benign meal charges." Id. Once they understood the amounts and nature of the

Korean expenses, Petitioners refused to approve further expense reports and "reported Yoon to Microsoft's Human Resources department," but "assert ... that Microsoft continually stymied the investigation." Id. Microsoft, for example, refused requests by its investigators for language services needed to translate Mr. Yoon's handwritten receipts and emails.³ Stockwell testifies that a Microsoft Human Resources manager "called him at his house and asked him to drop the complaint against Yoon." Slip Opinion, at 2. After the investigation closed with Microsoft finding "no evidence of wrongdoing" by Yoon, 4 Engstrom and Stockwell "assert that the retaliation against them began." Id. at 2-3. Like Dawn Cornwell, the petitioners were no longer valued by Microsoft management, and over a period of many months, their projects were sabotaged, their resources and personnel were withdrawn, they were marginalized, Engstrom was demoted, and both were rated lower and lower until, like Ms. Cornwell, they were rated as "5"s and terminated. See Slip Opinion, at 3; and CP 253-255.5

_

³ <u>See</u> CP 1219-20; CP 1118-19; CP 1473 (Sharp describes asking for "Korean translation help"); CP 1224 (Sharp testifies "[t]he big issue here was the language."); <u>and</u> CP 1218 (Sharp admits, "without understanding the Korean language," it was "very hard ... to know what the receipts were really for").

⁴ Stockwell engaged a Korean translator during the litigation who investigated the same receipts and information Yoon had given Microsoft's investigators. <u>See</u> CP 1835-37. The translator testified about visiting Sonagi—one of the places Yoon expensed—and testified that it "did not look like a restaurant or a place that served food". <u>Id.</u> A man at Sonagi asked the translator, "Can you tell me the pimp's name? Did you book a girl?" <u>Id.</u>

⁵ At Microsoft, a 5 rating is the lowest possible rating. <u>Cornwell v. Microsoft Corp.</u>, 192 Wn. 2d 403, 408, 430 P.3d 229 (2018).

They sued for wrongful termination in 2015. Slip Opinion, at 4. In June 2015, the trial court (Judge Sean O'Donnell) granted Microsoft's motion to dismiss under CR 12(b)(6), and Engstrom and Stockwell appealed. Slip Opinion, at 4; CP 215. Microsoft argued in the 2015 motion to dismiss, among other things, that "[t]he Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 [SOX] ... contain[s] provisions to protect FCPA whistleblowers[,]" CP 40, n.8—leading the trial court to find that "nothing suggests a public policy promoting accurate books and records will be jeopardized if Petitioners are unable to avail themselves of a civil action under state law." CP 217. The trial court in 2015 specifically found that the Petitioners' claim survived the "clarity" analysis, but found that it failed to satisfy the "jeopardy" analysis. CP 1340-1341. In Microsoft's brief responding to the 2015 appeal, it continued to argue that SOX provides adequate protections for FCPA whistleblowers. See, e.g., CP 2131-32, 2138-40 (Resp.'s Brief in 2015) (arguing there are robust "remedies for employees who allege retaliation for reporting suspected FCPA violations, as Engstrom and Stockwell claim"), citing, 18 U.S.C. § 1514A, et seq. (SOX).⁶

_

⁶ There is an SEC rule concerning the books and records provisions of the FCPA that enables persons who report a falsification of corporate "books and records" to have a claim under Sarbanes-Oxley. See Wadler v. Bio-Rad Labs., Inc., 15-CV-02356-JCS, 2017 WL 1910057, at *5 (N.D. Cal. May 10, 2017), affirmed in relevant part, 916 F.3d 1176, 1185 (9th Cir. 2019) ("one of the FCPA books-and-records provisions ... is also an SEC regulation within the scope of § 806" of SOX), citing 7 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-1 ("No person shall directly or indirectly, falsify or cause to be falsified, any book, record or

In September 2015, this Court decided Rose v. Anderson Hay and Grain Co., 184 Wn.2d 268, 358 P.3d 1139 (2015), in which it rejected any "analysis into the adequacy of alternative remedies" in favor of reviewing instead "whether a statutory remedy is intended to be exclusive." Id. at 284-285. In light of that decision, Microsoft agreed to a remand. Slip Opinion, at 4.

In September 2017, the trial court (Judge Veronica Galvan) orally granted summary judgment, in part, based on reevaluating the same "clarity" arguments that Microsoft previously made to Judge O'Donnell without success. See RP 23-24 (Judge Galvan's oral ruling that "books and records and accounting provision" are intended to address "whether corporations are … using accounting to cover up bribery of foreign officials," and that there is no "evidence of any bribery of foreign officials" in this case).

Petitioners then moved to amend the Complaint, asking the trial court to consider, as an alternative source of public policy, the whistleblower protection provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

account..."). SEC Rule 13b2–1 was promulgated pursuant to Section 13(b)(2) of the Exchange Act. Exchange Act Release No. 34-15570, 1979 WL 173674, at *5-6 (Appendix 10). See also Becker v. Cmty. Health Sys., Inc., 184 Wn. 2d 252, 264, 359 P.3d 746, 752 (2015) (Fairhurst, dissenting) ("SOX protects persons who disclose information that they reasonably believe constitutes a violation of United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) rules or regulations when the information is provided to 'a person with supervisory authority over the employee (or such other person working for the employer who has the authority to investigate, discover, or terminate misconduct).""), quoting 18 U.S.C. § 1514A(a)(1)(C).

⁷ Compare CP 30-32 (Def.'s 2015 Mot.), with CP 775-776 (Def.'s 2017 Mot.).

("SOX"), 18 U.S.C. § 1514A, et seq., which Microsoft had argued in its 2015 briefing provided adequate means to "protect FCPA whistleblowers" like Engstrom and Stockwell. See CP 1025 (Ps.' Mot. for Leave to Amend), citing CP 40, n.8 (Def.'s 2015 Mot. to Dismiss), and CP 217 (Order Granting Motion to Dismiss, entered June 26, 2015, by Judge O'Donnell, ruling that "the Sarbanes-Oxley Act ... provide[s] strong protections for FCPA whistleblowers.... 18 U.S.C. § 1514A").

Judge Galvan denied Petitioners' motion for leave to amend the complaint, CP 1961, and eight days later, on October 19, 2017, entered the order granting defendant's motion for summary judgment. CP 1963.

The Court of Appeals affirmed both decisions. The Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal of the case based on finding that Appellants "failed to meet their burden to plead and prove that a stated public policy, either legislatively or judicially recognized, may have been contravened." Slip Opinion, at 12. The Court wrote that "our Supreme Court has previously stated that 'the [FCPA] is a clear expression of public policy that bribery of foreign officials is contrary to the public interest," <u>id.</u>, at 8, <u>quoting Thompson</u>,102 Wn.2d at 234, and it reasoned that because "Engstrom and Stockwell do not allege anything related to the bribery of foreign officials[,] ... the FCPA's public policy was not implicated[.]" <u>Id.</u> The Court also ruled that the proposed amendment was the result of undue delay, futile, and would have prejudiced Microsoft. Slip Opinion, at 10-12.

E. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

1. The Appellate Decision Regarding Petitioners' Wrongful Discharge Claim Conflicts With This Court's Decision In *Thompson* and Its Progeny

The Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). The Court of Appeals held that reporting concerns that a publicly-traded company like Microsoft "masking" illegal prostitution "as benign meal charges" in its corporate financial books does not implicate a clear public policy—despite recognizing that the "books-and-records" provision of the FCPA requires publicly-traded companies to "make and keep books, records, and accounts, which, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the [securities] issuer." See Slip Opinion, at 2 and 8-9, quoting 15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A).

The Court of Appeals' holding conflicts with this Court's decision in Thompson v. St. Regis Paper Co., 102 Wn.2d 219, 685 P.2d 1081 (1984). In Thompson, the Court declared, "to state a cause of action, the employee must plead and prove that a stated **public policy**, **either** legislatively or judicially recognized, may have been contravened." Id., at 232. The Court has consistently reaffirmed this rule in subsequent cases. See, e.g., Rose, 184 Wn.2d at 275; Martin, 191 Wn.2d at 725 (stating that "[t]he question of what constitutes a clear mandate of public policy ... can be established by ... statutory, or regulatory provisions"); and Smith v. Bates Tech. Coll., 139 Wn. 2d 793, 807, 991 P.2d 1135 (2000) ("When

determining whether a clear mandate of public policy is violated, we consider "whether the employer's conduct contravenes the letter ... of a ... statutory, or regulatory provision""), quoting Thompson, 102 Wn.2d at 232.

In this case, the Court of Appeals departed from the inquiry required by <u>Thompson</u>. The primary question to be asked under <u>Thompson</u> is whether the Petitioners' whistleblowing addresses a violation of the employer's duties grounded in statute or regulation. Engstrom and Stockwell's whistleblowing unquestionably does.

Petitioners allege they were fired for reporting that a Microsoft employee falsified financial records to cover up illegal spending of shareholder monies, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A). This law, the books-and-records provision of the FCPA, is an amendment to the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, Pub. L. No. 95-231, 91 Stat. 1495 (1977) (Appendix 7). For that reason, the law is also referred to as "Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act."

It is undisputed that "bribery of a foreign official" is not necessary to violate 15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A). See, e.g., In re Microsoft Corp., S.E.C. Admin Proceeding File No. 3-10789 (June 3, 2002) (Appendix 6), at 8-9; see also S.E.C. v. World-Wide Coin Investments, Ltd., 567 F.Supp.

⁸ In re Microsoft Corp., S.E.C. Admin Proceeding File No. 3-10789 (June 3, 2002) (Appendix 6), at 8-9.

724, 747-48, n.40 (N.D. Ga. 1983); see also Stuart Deming, The Potent and Broad-Ranging Implications of the Accounting and Record-Keeping Provisions of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, 96 J. Crim. L. & Criminology 465, 467-68 (2006) (Appendix 12) (hereinafter, "Deming, The Potent and Broad-Ranging FCPA Accounting Provisions"); and D. Goelzer, The Accounting Provisions of the FCPA—The Federalization of Corporate Recordkeeping and Internal Control, 5 J.Corp.L. 1, 4 (1979) (Appendix 11) ("despite their common ancestry, the accounting provisions are much broader than the antibribery sections" of the FCPA).

Microsoft admits that the FCPA requires it "to keep accurate books about what [its] expenses are actually made for" and to "truthfully represent what the expense is." See CP 1106-1107.9 Petitioners' wrongful discharge claim is therefore premised on reporting a violation of Microsoft's duty to keep accurate books-and-records, a legal obligation and public policy that is "legislatively recognized." This satisfies the criteria for proving "clarity" described in Thompson and its progeny. See 102 Wn.2d at 232. The Court of Appeals' holding, finding that Petitioners

_

⁹ The scope of the books-and-records provision extends to "virtually any tangible embodiment of information made or kept by an issuer." World-Wide Coin, 567 F.Supp. at 748–49. Accord In re Microsoft Corp. (Appendix 6) at 9 ("A company's 'books and records' include not only general ledgers and accounting entries, but also memoranda and internal corporate reports."). "Manipulating an entity's books or records to mask transactions by characterizing them in some oblique way, or by actually falsifying a transaction, can lead to serious exposure for an issuer and those individuals involved. For example, placing a transaction into an abnormal category or 'burying' it in some other way could serve as a basis for an enforcement action for a violation of Rule 13b2-1."

Deming, The Potent and Broad-Ranging FCPA Accounting Provisions, at 487-88.

failed to satisfy the clarity element, is irreconcilable with the rule outlined in <u>Thompson</u>.

This Court should grant review to provide guidance to the lower courts to prevent further misunderstanding on how "the employee must plead and prove that a stated public policy, either legislatively or judicially recognized, may have been contravened." <u>Thompson</u>, 102 Wn.2d at 232.

2. The Appellate Decision Regarding Petitioners' Wrongful Discharge Claim Conflicts With This Court's Decision In *Ellis*

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's denial of Petitioners' motion for leave to amend the complaint based, in part, on finding that Petitioners "unduly delayed" pleading SOX's whistleblower provision, 18 U.S.C. § 1514A, *et seq.*, as an additional source of public policy. See Slip Opinion at 9-11.

This Court has previously held that additional sources of public policy may be raised for the first time on appeal. Ellis v. City of Seattle, 142 Wn.2d 450, 459, n.3, 13 P.3d 1065 (2000) ("There is no requirement to list every statute, code, or case brought to the attention of the trial court. Nor should there be, as any court is entitled to consult the law in its review of an issue, whether or not a party has cited that law"). For such reason, the appellate decision conflicts with Ellis to the extent that it restrains a plaintiff's ability to rely on a statute or code owing to consideration of whether the law was timely pleaded in the trial court.

In this case, Petitioners moved to amend the complaint after they discovered at oral argument in 2017 that Judge Galvan, in contrast to Judge O'Donnell in 2015, would not accept the FCPA as a mandate of clear public policy supporting their claim. Petitioners promptly sought leave to plead SOX's whistleblower provisions as an alternative source of public policy before the Order on Summary Judgment was entered. Neither the trial court nor Microsoft articulated any prejudice, and how could they since Microsoft, in seeking dismissal based on jeopardy in 2015, injected SOX's protection of "FCPA whistleblowers" into the case, see CP 40, n.8; and the elements of the claim remained unchanged. See Kirkham v. Smith, 106 Wn. App. 177, 181, 23 P.3d 10 (2001); and footnote 6, supra (describing how reporting falsified books-and-records in violation of the FCPA is one type of protected reporting under SOX).

The Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) to avoid confusion by the lower courts and to provide guidance as to whether the courts are able to consider additional sources of public policy, even when presented for the first time on appeal, as the Court held in Ellis.

//

\\

¹⁰ See CP 1059-61; CP 1024-1036.

¹¹ Id.; CP 1962, 1965.

3. The Failure to Protect Whistleblowers Who Report Illegal Spending Being Covered Up in Falsified Corporate Financial Records Is An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest

The Court should also grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Incentivizing of whistleblowing about illegal corporate spending and disincentivizing retaliation for whistleblowing concerning illegal corporate spending are matters of substantial public interest.

The FCPA's accounting provisions derive from the "work of the Office of the Watergate Special Prosecutor, [which made] the [Securities and Exchange] Commission ... aware of a pattern of conduct involving the use of corporate funds for illegal domestic political contributions." Promotion of Reliability of Financial Information & Prevention of the Concealment of Questionable or Illegal Corp. Payments & Practices, Securities Exchange Act Release No. 34-15570, 1979 WL 173674 (SEC), at *2 (Feb. 15, 1979) (Appendix 10) (hereinafter, "Exchange Act Release No. 34-15570"). "Subsequent Commission investigations revealed that instances of undisclosed questionable or illegal corporate payments—both domestic and foreign—were indeed widespread and represented a serious breach in both the operation of the Commission's system of corporate disclosure and, correspondingly, in public confidence in the integrity of the system of capital formation." Id.

Whistleblowers who are "company insiders," like the Petitioners, are critical to the detection of corporate misconduct and crimes, as they are often the only people who can give investigators a roadmap to uncover misconduct that is otherwise "hard to spot." At the same, "[w]histleblowers who report suspicions ... are usually in a vulnerable position" and are "subject to pressures to remain silent with threats of ... loss of employment." ¹³

"The central idea of the public policy tort is to create privately enforceable disincentives for ... employers to use their power in the workplace to undermine important public policies." Henry H. Perritt, Jr., Employee Dismissal Law and Practice § 7.06[A], at 7–82.3 (Supp.2013), quoted in Becker v. Cmty. Health Sys., Inc., 182 Wn. App. 935, 951, 332 P.3d 1085 (2014), aff'd, 184 Wn. 2d 252, 359 P.3d 746 (2015). Such disincentives are now lacking to stop corporations from retaliating against employees who report illegal spending being covered up in corporate books and records.

The Court of Appeals has denied a remedy to whistleblowers claiming retaliation for reporting the concern that Microsoft's employee

¹² <u>See</u> Andrew Ceresney, The SEC's Whistleblower Program: The Successful Early Years, Speech at the Sixteenth Annual Taxpayers Against Fraud Conference (Sept. 14, 2016) (transcript available at https://www.sec.gov/news/speech/ceresney-sec-whistleblower-program.html).

¹³ Vishal Marria, How Important Are Whistleblowers in Detecting Crime and Fraud, FORBES (Nov. 2, 2018), https://www.forbes.com/sites/vishalmarria/2018/11/02/how-important-are-whistleblowers-in-detecting-crime-and-fraud/.

was "expensing illegal prostitution masked [in Microsoft's books] as benign meal charges." <u>See Slip Opinion</u>, at 2-3.¹⁴ The law must protect persons like Engstrom and Stockwell who in good faith and at great risk report illegal spending being covered up through falsified corporate financial records.

In enacting the FCPA's accounting provisions, Congress reported that the law was intended to "assure... that the [corporation's] assets are used for proper corporate purpose[s]." S. REP. No. 95-114 (1977) (Appendix 9), at 7. In implementing the FCPA, the SEC similarly recognized that an important objective of the law is "the goal of corporate accountability." [C] or officials are unlikely to engage in questionable or illegal conduct and simultaneously reflect it accurately on corporate books and records." Report of the Securities and Exchange Commission on Questionable and Illegal Corporate Payments and Practices, submitted to Comm. on Banking, House and Urban Affairs, United States Senate (May 12, 1976) (hereinafter "SEC Questionable Payments Report"), at 42 (Appendix 8).

"A fundamental tenet of the recordkeeping system of American companies is the notion of corporate accountability. It seems clear that investors are entitled to rely on the implicit representations that

 14 <u>Accord</u> CP 1216-17 (allegations involved spending on "infamous hostess bars" where you pay for sex); <u>and</u> CP 1363 (concern involved Yoon "falsifying expenses").

¹⁵ Exchange Act Release No. 34-15570, 1979 WL 173674 at * 6 (Appendix 10).

corporations will account for their funds properly and will not 'launder' ... funds ... in the accounting system so that there are no checks possible on how much of the corporation's funds are being expended or whether in fact those funds are expended in the manner management later claims."

Id., at 58.

Thus, the FCPA's accounting provisions were developed "to address management misfeasance, misuse of corporate assets and other conduct reflecting adversely on management's integrity," and they make "misrepresentation, concealment, falsification, circumvention, and other deliberate acts resulting in inaccurate financial books and records … unlawful." World-Wide Coin, 567 F.Supp. at 748.

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