FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/8/2019 4:22 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 97421-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GEORGE E. ENGSTROM and JOHN E. STOCKWELL,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

v.

MICROSOFT CORPORATION,

Defendant/Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Robert J. Maguire Melissa K. Mordy Arthur Simpson Davis Wright Tremaine LLP Attorneys for Respondent

920 Fifth Ave., Suite 3300 Seattle, Washington 98104 206.622.3150 Phone 206.757.7700 Fax

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Summary Judgment Dismissal is Consistent with and Compelled by Decisions of This Court.

The courts below properly followed this Court's consistent admonition to ensure the wrongful discharge tort is only a narrow exception to the at-will employment doctrine and does not become the exception that swallows the rule. *Thompson*, 102 Wn.2d at 232 (the wrongful discharge tort is intended to be applied narrowly to "protect[] against frivolous lawsuits and allow[] trial courts to weed out cases that do not involve any public policy principle. It also allows employers to make personnel decisions without fear of incurring civil liability.").⁷ To allow Petitioners' claims in this case to proceed would open the door for any employee to claim protection from personnel decisions in perpetuity even three years later with a different manager—if they had merely questioned a subordinate's expenses no matter how small or speculative the questions and without regard to whether the expenses were publicly reported. That is not the purpose of the wrongful discharge tort and the courts below properly rejected Petitioners' efforts to expand it.

1. The Policy Underlying the FCPA is to Deter Bribery of Foreign Officials, and is Not Implicated Here.

The FCPA addresses the problem of international corruption in two ways: (1) anti-bribery provisions, which prohibit bribery of foreign officials to obtain business; and (2) the accounting provisions, which require public companies to maintain reasonably accurate accounting and internal controls. *See* 15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1, 78m. As Congress explained: "Taken together, the accounting requirements and [anti-bribery] prohibitions of [the FCPA] should effectively deter corporate bribery of

⁷ Washington courts consistently refer to the wrongful discharge tort as a "narrow exception to the at-will doctrine" that "must be limited only to instances involving very clear violations of public policy." *See, e.g., Rose v. Anderson Hay & Grain,* 184 Wn.2d 268, 276 (2015); *Becker,* 184 Wn.2d at 258.

foreign government officials." CP352 (S. REP. No. 95-114, at 3).

Whether the accounting provision may be separately enforced by the SEC is immaterial to the question of the underlying public policy, which is to prevent concealment of corporate bribery through the falsification of corporate books and records. *Id*.

This Court identified the public policy in the *same way*: "The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act is a clear expression of public policy that *bribery of foreign officials* is contrary to the public interest and that specific companies . . . *must institute accounting practices to ensure that this public policy is advanced.*" *Thompson*, 102 Wn.2d at 234 (emphasis added).⁸

Consistent with *Thompson*, the Court of Appeals concluded that the public policy purpose of the FCPA was to deter bribery of foreign government officials. Requiring reasonably accurate books and records is a mechanism for *ensuring* that purpose; it was not, in and of itself, the

⁸Courts have repeatedly noted the public policy arising from the FCPA is the prevention of bribery of foreign officials. *Sedlacek v. Hillis*, 145 Wn.2d 379, 386 (2001) (FCPA is "a clear expression of public policy in favor of careful accounting to prevent bribery of foreign officials"); *Danny v. Laidlaw Trans. Servs., Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 200, 219-20 (2008) (public policy underlying FCPA "prohibited bribery of foreign officials"); *S.E.C. v. World-Wide Coin Investments, Ltd.*, 567 F. Supp. 724, 745-46 (N.D. Ga. 1983) (FCPA "was the legislative response to numerous questionable and illegal foreign payments by United States corporations..."); *Lewis v. Sporck*, 612 F. Supp. 1316, 1333 (N.D. Cal. 1985) ("Congress believed that almost all such bribery was covered up in the corporation's books, and that to require proper accounting methods and internal accounting controls would discourage corporations from engaging in illegal payments.") (citing S. Rep. No. 95-114).

underlying public policy purpose of the FCPA. And Petitioners admit their expense concerns did not involve "foreign bribery." CP414, 419-420, 458. Petitioners cannot establish their conduct "was *either* directly related to the public policy *or* necessary for effective enforcement" of the policy underlying the FCPA. *Rose*, 184 Wn.2d at 284 (emphasis added).

2. Petitioners' Conduct Did Not Implicate the Accuracy of Microsoft's Books and Records.

The Court of Appeals appropriately rejected Petitioners' efforts to create a new public policy divorcing the purposes behind the books and records provision from the FCPA's overall anti-bribery purpose. *See Sedlacek*, 145 Wn.2d at 390 ("An argument for the adoption of a previously unrecognized public policy under Washington law is better addressed to the Legislature."). The FCPA requires public companies to "make and keep books, records, and accounts, which, in *reasonable detail* accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the [company]." 15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A) (emphasis added). This provision reflects a "public policy in favor of careful accounting to prevent bribery of foreign officials." *Sedlacek*, 145 Wn.2d at 386 (citing *Thompson*, 102 Wn.2d at 234).

To the extent Petitioners contend the books and records provision creates a separate policy unconnected to foreign bribery concerns, their claims still fail because they admitted that the expenses were accurately reported and they presented no evidence of inaccuracies in Microsoft's books and records. Stockwell testified he did not report any concerns that the expense reports were inaccurate, incomplete, or failed to comply with Microsoft's record-keeping requirements. CP 408-409, 415-418. Engstrom testified the expenses, which had been categorized as entertainment expenses, were "probably accurately described and inappropriate at the same time" and he did not believe the accuracy of the expense descriptions was at issue. CP458-459.

Petitioners cannot escape their own admissions or seek to impose a greater level of detail in expense reporting than occurred. Congress adopted the "in reasonable detail" qualification "in light of the concern that such a standard, if unqualified, might connote a degree of exactitude and precision which is unrealistic." CP363 (H.R. Rep. No. 94-831, at 10 (1977) (Conf.)). This qualification "makes clear" that a company's records need only "reflect transactions in conformity with accepted methods of recording economic events and effectively prevent off-the-books slush funds and payments of bribes." *Id.*

3. Petitioners' Claims Also Fail Under the Remaining Elements of the Public Policy Tort.

The Court of Appeals did not reach the remaining elements of the public policy tort but the record demonstrates Petitioners failed to establish causation and did not rebut Microsoft's evidence that they would have been terminated for legitimate reasons regardless of the allegedly protected activities. *See Martin v. Gonzaga Univ.*, 91 Wn.2d 712, 727 (2018) (affirming summary judgment dismissal of plaintiff's wrongful discharge claim where "Martin has not pointed to any evidence that his supervisors received his complaints…let alone evidence that the university acted negatively to his suggestion."). Petitioners acknowledge that in the almost three years between raising concerns and the termination of their employment, they moved to different teams with different managers; worked on unsuccessful projects that ended for business reasons, displacing scores of employees; and were part of a reduction in force that included another employee with no connection to their expense concern.

Indeed, Petitioners admit they have no direct or indirect knowledge, and can only "speculate," that the decision-maker terminating their employment was even aware they had raised expense concerns three years earlier. As this Court recently clarified, "mere speculation will not suffice to defeat summary judgment." *Cornwell v. Microsoft*, 192 Wn.2d

403, 418 (2018); *see also Little v. Countrywood Homes, Inc.*, 132 Wn. App. 777, 781-82 (2006) (a plaintiff resisting summary judgment must "submit evidence allowing a reasonable person to infer, without speculating" that the defendant is liable).

B. The Trial Court Properly Exercised its Discretion to Deny Petitioners' Motion to Amend.

The trial court was within its discretion denying Petitioners' Motion for Leave to Amend the Complaint. *Rodriguez v. Loudeye Corp.*, 144 Wn. App. 709, 730 (2008).

First, Petitioners waited over two and a half years after first filing their Complaint and a week after the Court granted Microsoft's Motion for Summary Judgment. The basis for their requested amendment was a twoyear-old decision, *Becker*, one of a trio of cases that led the parties to voluntarily remand the case in 2015. Thus, Petitioners "had the perfect opportunity to [amend their Complaint] after the initial remand and before beginning discovery," but they did not, which was undue delay. *Engstrom v. Microsoft Corp.*, No. 77538-3-I (Wash. Ct. App. May 6, 2019) at 10-11; *Doyle v. Planned Parenthood*, 31 Wn. App. 126, 130-31 (1982) (no abuse of discretion to deny leave to amend after summary judgment ruling).

Second, Petitioners' proposed amendment was futile because Petitioners (1) already admitted the expenses were accurately described,

and (2) acknowledged the expense reports were internal and not disclosed externally. Petitioners' conduct had nothing to do with securities fraud or the accuracy or honesty of any public financial reports. Moreover, *Becker* and SOX do not recognize the broad public policy Petitioners claim. In *Becker*, the plaintiff, as defendants' Chief Financial Officer, claimed he refused to publicly misreport the company's operating losses and was constructively discharged for his insubordination. 184 Wn.2d at 255-56. The policy underlying SOX is concerned with preventing fraudulent *public* reports of a company's financial information – not internal expense reporting pursuant to company policy.⁹ *Shelton v. Azar, Inc.*, 90 Wn. App. 923, 928 (1998) (abuse of discretion to grant leave to amend where amendment was futile).

Third, amendment would have unfairly prejudiced Microsoft. Had amendment been allowed, the lawsuit would need to be entirely resurrected post-summary judgment, including potentially reopening 21 depositions, discovery (Microsoft had produced over 50,000 pages), and dispositive motions. *Evergreen Moneysource Mortgage Co. v. Shannon*, 167 Wn. App. 242, 262-63, (2012) (no abuse of discretion to deny

⁹ See Ct. App. at 11 (citing *Day v. Staples, Inc.*, 555 F.3d 42, 56 (1st Cir. 2009) ("disagreement with management about internal tracking systems which are not reported to shareholders is not actionable....").

amendment where parties would "complete additional discovery" and "repeat already conducted discovery").

Finally, *Ellis v. City of Seattle*, 142 Wn.2d 450 (2000), does not help Petitioners. *Ellis* did not involve the denial of a Motion for Leave to Amend the Complaint. Instead, after acknowledging that the Court of Appeals had recognized the plaintiff had established the clarity element of the tort based on a Seattle Fire Code provision, this Court included a footnote indicating the Court of Appeals was wrong to rely on RAP 9.12 as a basis for not considering additional consistent fire code sections cited on appeal. *Id.* at 459 n.3. RAP 9.12 is not at issue here and, unlike in *Ellis*, Petitioners failed to establish the clarity element and then tried to shift their public policy basis to an entirely different statute.

C. Petitioners' Speculative Internal Expense Concerns Do Not Implicate an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

This case does not raise any matters of substantial public interest requiring this Court to review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the lower court's rulings do not have broader implications "ha[ving] the potential" to affect the general public. *See State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577 (2005) (granting petition where lower court holding "ha[d] the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding" in a County involving the new rule). Petitioners argue that the lower court decisions will have the effect of deterring employees from blowing the whistle on their employers but this claim does not support their argument.

First, Petitioners were not "whistleblowers." Petitioners raised a concern internally about the propriety of their own subordinate's expenses under company policies; they did not raise concerns about *employer* misconduct under any specific law. Second, Petitioners' theory is contrary to this Court's decisions. As the lower courts recognized, consistent with this Court's admonition in *Thompson* and all subsequent cases, the public policy tort is a narrow exception to the employment at will doctrine. Consequently, not every internal concern or disagreement with an employer provides "whistleblower" protection; particularly when a party asserts a new public policy basis inconsistent with this Court's decisions.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, review should be denied.